

Transport Policy For Children and Young People

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
May 2014

Contents

	Page
1. Introduction	3
2. Home to school transport for children and young people of statutory school age	4
2.1 Choice of school	4
2.2 General eligibility criteria	4
2.3 Home to school transport for families with low incomes	6
2.4 Transport to faith schools	6
2.5 Distance measurement	8
2.6 Hazardous routes	9
2.7 Spare seats	9
2.8 Short term medical needs	10
2.9 School re-organisation	10
2.10 Applying for school transport	10
2.11 What type of transport assistance will be offered?	11
2.12 Acceptable journey time	12
2.13 Right of refused transport request	12
2.14 Complaints	12
3. Transport for children and young people with additional needs or special circumstances	13
3.1 Home to school transport for pupils of statutory school age with learning difficulties and/or disabilities	13
3.2 Pre-School age children	14
3.3 Independent Travel Training	15
3.4 Transport to residential placements	15
3.5 Transport to Short Breaks	15
3.6 Transport to Delta holidays	15
3.7 Children moving school for reasons other than moving address	16
3.8 Children moving to different place of learning due to behaviour issues	16
3.9 Long term medical needs	16
3.10 Making an application for free transport	16
3.11 Home to school transport for children in the care of the Authority	17
3.12 Transport to contact and other settings for children in the care of the Authority	18
3.13 Transport to contact visits for parents	18
3.14 Transport for parents attending Parenting Courses provided by the Authority	18
3.15 Review of Transport Decision	18
3.16 Complaints	18
4. Post 16 Transport	19
4.1 Transport to school and college for students post 16	19
4.2 Post 16 students with learning difficulties or disabilities	20
Appendix A: Walking Route Assessment Criteria	
Appendix B: Behaviour Code of Conduct for provided transport	
Appendix C: Contacts for specialist staff dealing in home to school related matters	
Appendix D: Transport review form	

1. Introduction

This policy explains the entitlement to travel assistance for Derbyshire children and young people, and in some cases their families, including those who have additional needs such as children with learning difficulties or disabilities. It sets out the criteria for eligibility for travel assistance, how parents may apply, how decisions are made and the type of assistance that may be available and how parents and carers may have decisions they are unhappy with reviewed.

In developing and implementing this policy, the following principles are applied:

- The policy should be applied fairly, and consistently;
- Wherever possible, independence for children, young people and families should be promoted;
- Value for money should be secured.

The policy is intended to provide clarity for parents and carers in a wide range of circumstances, and to ensure that children with additional needs are appropriately supported. However, it is the legal responsibility of parents to ensure that their children of compulsory school age are educated at school or otherwise.

Extensive consultation with parents, carers, children and young people has informed this policy, and in support of the policy an Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken to ensure that it does not unfairly disadvantage any group or individual.

The scope of this policy includes all travel assistance provided by Derbyshire County Council (the Authority) for children, young people and families to services, schools and places of learning.

The Authority has a duty to ensure that all arrangements make the best use of the Council's resources.

This policy applies to all children and young people who are resident in Derbyshire, excluding those living in the Derby City Local Authority area, and includes all children looked after by Derbyshire County Council.

2. Home to school transport for children and young people of statutory school age

Home to school transport is provided for statutory school age children whose circumstances meet the Authority's home to school transport criteria as explained below.

Statutory school age starts at the beginning of the term following the child's 5th birthday and lasts until the last Friday in June in the school year the child becomes 16. In law, there is no requirement to assist with education transport for children younger than statutory school age. The Raising of the Participation Age (RPA) legislation, requiring young people to participate in education or training until the end of the academic year they turn 17 from 2013 (and up to their 18th birthday from 2015), has not created any new entitlement to transport for post-16 learners.

2.1 Choice of School

The offer of a school place does not give a guarantee of home to school transport assistance from the Authority. Parents have a right in law to state a school preference for their child but that does not automatically carry with it a right to assistance with transport to get the child/ young person to and from school.

Unless the circumstances fall into one of the *General Eligibility Criteria* (section 2.2) or the *Home to School Transport for Low Income Families criteria* (section 2.3), the child's parents or carers will be required to make their own arrangements to get their child to school.

2.2 General eligibility criteria

In Derbyshire, provision is made for eligible pupils, at the beginning of the academic year in which their fifth birthday falls, and who live over statutory walking distance from the normal area school attended full time, until they finish school in year 11.

Children and young people of compulsory school age are entitled to assistance with transport from the Authority to a maintained school, academy, or other establishment if named in a statement of special educational needs, if they meet the following criteria:

- Attend the normal area school, or a school closer than the normal area school, or the nearest suitable school as determined by the Authority, and;
- Live beyond walking distance from that school.

The walking distance is 2 miles for primary school pupils and 3 miles for secondary school pupils using the 'shortest available walking route', as detailed in section 2.5.

School normal areas are determined by the Authority, or in the case of faith schools, by the diocese in partnership with the Authority. See 2.4 Transport to faith schools.

In the exceptional circumstances of a child being educated outside their normal chronological age group any transport application will be assessed according to the age of the majority of children they are educated with.

Whilst not exhaustive, the list below indicates cases where there will not usually be an entitlement to transport assistance from the Authority, with the exception of children in the care of the Authority:

- To access breakfast or after school clubs including out of school activities;
- To work experience, taster or open days;
- To part-time provision off the school site organised by the school;
- For transfers between educational establishments during the school day:
- To and from temporary addresses including friends and child minders where these arrangements are made by the family;
- To and from medical appointments;
- Following detention;
- At times to suit the convenience of family arrangements;
- For late arrival or early departure, for example due to illness or medical appointments;
- For shorter than normal days e.g. during the exam season;
- For a child whose level of attendance is a cause of concern, but for whom no eligibility criteria are met;
- For students on exchange visits;
- Where the behaviour of a young person is not acceptable to the driver of the vehicle and places other travellers at risk. In these circumstances parents will be required to make alternative arrangements (See Appendix C);

2.3 Home to school transport for families with low incomes

The Education and Inspections Act 2006 introduced additional transport assistance for families with low incomes under the term *Extended Rights*.

Children aged 11-16 who are entitled to free school meals or whose families get the maximum level of working tax credit are entitled to free transport to any one of the three nearest suitable schools where the distance is between two and six miles. Where the school is preferred on grounds of religion or belief the distance is between two and fifteen miles if the school is the nearest appropriate school. Evidence to support religious or philosophical belief will be required.

Distance measurement up to three miles is determined using the 'shortest available walking route', as detailed in section 2.5 below. Any distance measurements over three miles linked to low income entitlement shall be determined using a road route suitable for a motorised vehicle.

In Derbyshire, all children of primary school age (regardless of family income) are entitled to free transport to the nearest suitable school where the 'shortest available walking route' is more than two miles, as detailed in section 2.5. This exceeds the minimum statutory entitlement. Eligibility for transport assistance may be checked annually. If parents are no longer eligible they will be required to meet their child's transport costs. Should a family's circumstances change they will need to inform the Authority at the earliest opportunity in order for their eligibility for assistance to be re-assessed,

2.4 Transport to faith schools

THE AUTHORITY IS CEASING TO PROVIDE A TRANSPORT SUBSIDY TO FAITH SCHOOLS FROM SEPTEMBER 2015. PROTECTION WILL BE GIVEN FOR PUPILS IN YEARS 6 and 11 FOR THE ACEADEMIC SCHOOL YEAR 2015/16. This will mean that the Authority will not contract any buses to provide transport to faith schools from July 2016.

Until July 2015

Parents choosing a voluntary aided faith school on religious grounds may be eligible to receive assistance with transport if the chosen school is the normal area voluntary school (in most cases the nearest voluntary school) and the school is outside walking distance (see section 2.2 *General Eligibility Criteria*).

Since September 2011, pupils starting at faith primary and secondary schools no longer receive free travel to their school except for those who are entitled to free travel on distance or low income grounds (see sections 2.2 and 2.3).

The charge for provision of transport to faith schools for non-eligible pupils for the 2013/14 and 2014/15 academic years will be £316 per annum for primary and £349 per annum for a secondary age pupil.

This charge also applies to pupils whose circumstances change, such as a change of home address or change of school. Should a family's circumstances change they will need to inform the Authority in order for their eligibility for assistance to be re-assessed.

In the case of Catholic schools, only Roman Catholic baptised children are eligible to receive assistance with travel. In all such requests, baptismal certificates are required as necessary evidence. For other faith schools or other denominational aided schools applicants must provide a letter from a religious/faith leader evidencing their allegiance to the faith perhaps through worship.

Pupils with disabilities who have chosen a school on faith grounds would be subject to a charge consistent with other charges for local authority provided transport, and subject to any provision set out in a Statement of Special Educational Needs.

Parents will have the facility to pay on an annual, termly or monthly basis. A maximum charge relating to two pupils per household will be observed.

September 2015 – July 2016

Although the provision of subsidised transport to faith schools will cease in September 2015, protection will be offered to pupils in key years - those entering years 5 and 10 in September 2014 (therefore years 6 and 11 in September 2015). Spare seats will be available to all pupils on this transport sold on a first come first served basis. The charge for these seats will be consistent with other charges for local authority provided transport .In September 2015 the spare seat charges will be £325 for a primary pupil and £360 for a secondary pupil.

September 2016 onwards

Children aged 11-16 who are entitled to free school meals or whose families get the maximum level of working tax credit are entitled to free transport to any one of the three nearest suitable schools where the distance is between two and six miles. Where the school is preferred on grounds of religion or belief the distance is between two and fifteen miles if the school is the nearest appropriate school. Evidence to support religious or philosophical belief will be required. Any distance measurements over three miles linked to benefit entitlement are done using road routes.

The Council is to give a grant to a hardship fund which is to administer by the relevant Diocesan authorities. These grants are intended to be used in support of families and pupils particularly disadvantaged by the changes. In particular those identified as particularly vulnerable which include pupils living some distance from others travelling to the school and without an alternative means of transport, and families with an income just above the threshold for entitlement to free transport on the grounds of low income for whom the costs may be prohibitive. Applications will be dealt with by the relevant Diocesan authority directly.

2.5 Distance measurement

Home to school distance is measured from the child's residential address, from the established pedestrian access point for the property for example, the front gate - to the nearest approved entry point to the school site, using the 'shortest available walking route'.

Measurements are made from one permanent address for a pupil, deemed to be the residence at which the child resides during the normal school week. Where the child subsequently moves address the eligibility will be re-determined. Where the child shares equal time between different parental addresses eligibility will be assessed from the property nearest to the school attended.

The 'shortest available walking route' is the shortest route along which a child, accompanied as necessary, may walk with reasonable safety. As such, the route measured may include footpaths, bridleways, and other pathways, as well as recognised roads.

Any distance measurements over three miles linked to low income entitlement shall be determined using a road route suitable for a motorised vehicle.

From September 2014 distance measurements for all new applicants will normally be determined using a computerised GIS mapping system using Ordnance Survey information. Distance measurements for existing users may include routes and distance measurements already held on file by the Authority.

2.6 Hazardous Routes

Transport assistance will be provided if the Authority considers that the route a pupil would normally be expected to walk to school is hazardous and the alternative route/s is/are over the statutory walking distance. The assessment criteria are set out in appendix A.

When considering a walking route it is expected that the child will be accompanied by an adult or other responsible person as necessary. Arranging this is the responsibility of the parents/ carers.

2.7 Spare Seats

Where the Authority provides contract vehicles, spare places may be offered on request and on a temporary basis for children who are not entitled to transport assistance based on the criteria in sections 2.2 and 2.3. For 2014/15 where a child takes up a spare seat a charge will be made of £349 per annum for a secondary age pupil and £316 per annum for a child of primary school age. For 2015/16 the charge will be £360 per annum for a secondary age pupil and £325 per annum for a child of primary school age. This charge will increase by the rate of inflation in the September of each year.

The Authority reserves the right to determine the allocation of these spaces based on the demand and space available at the time, and to determine charges.

The Authority cannot guarantee the spare seat place for the duration of the child's attendance at that school and will make every effort to give a minimum of one week's notice should a place have to be withdrawn at any time. There is no appeal against withdrawal of concessionary transport, as from the outset, this offer does not commit the Authority to future assistance.

The facility for children who are not entitled to transport assistance from the Authority to pay to use spare seats, does not apply to buses which charge a daily fare for travel.

2.8 Short term medical needs

In most cases, the Authority will not provide transport assistance when a child has a medical condition or need that is short term. If a short term need affecting mobility means that the pupil cannot be reasonably expected to walk to school, some assistance may be provided, and would be assessed on an individual basis using written evidence from a medical practitioner that includes an expected end date to the temporary condition.

2.9 School re-organisation

If a child has to move school after a school re-organisation or closure, and they lived in the normal area of their former school, they will only be offered transport to their new designated school if they meet the general eligibility criteria. Transport for those who do not meet the general eligibility criteria will only be provided if it has been agreed as appropriate under the school closure/ re-organisation plan.

2.10 Applying for school transport

When a child or young person is due to start full time school for the first time or transfer at the normal transfer time between schools, parents/carers will receive a letter advising them at which school the child has been offered a place. If a child/young person is offered a place at/attends a primary school in another Authority's area, a letter will be sent to the child's home address from the School Admissions team advising about the process for applying for transport, and where to find more information.

<u>Primary age children</u>: Families who believe their child may be entitled to transport assistance should apply online or submit a form X78.

<u>**Y6 pupils transferring from junior/primary school to a secondary school:** Where it is identified that a pupil is entitled to receive transport assistance the Authority will notify parents by letter in April prior to transfer. In this case a separate application is not necessary and parents/careers should only contact the Authority if the transport assistance is not required.</u>

Parent/carers, who do not receive a letter, should apply to the Authority if they believe that their child may be entitled to assistance with travel. The application should be completed by the end of May prior to transfer. Applications for school transport can be made online at www.derbyshire.gov.uk/get2school or by completing form X78.

<u>Pupils attending faith schools</u>: Following the introduction of revised arrangements for travel to faith schools outlined in paragraph 2.4, all parents requesting transport assistance to faith school should complete an online application form X78 or hard copy.

Other circumstances: Applications for transport to support new admissions or changed circumstances at other times of the year should be made using the application Form X78 (http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/images/Application%20for%20school%20transport%20and%20transport%20assistance_tcm44-21346.pdf) or by contacting Call Derbyshire or Student services (see Appendix C for contact details).

In normal circumstances, when the parent/carer of the student entitled to assistance applies, it may take up to 15 working days before provision is in place and parents/ carers will be expected to make their own travel arrangements during this time. If further information or investigation is required more time may be required.

Transport applications are assessed on the basis of the information supplied, so if circumstances change it will be necessary for the parent/carer to notify the Authority and re-apply if appropriate. The stored information is verified with schools by the School Transport Section twice yearly.

In the event that the Authority has provided assistance with transport in error the provision will be withdrawn giving 6 weeks notice. The Authority reserves the right to recover from parents the cost of any transport wrongly provided on the basis of false or inaccurate information given by the applicant, or failure by the applicant to notify the Authority of a change of circumstances.

2.11 What type of transport assistance will be offered?

Transport assistance will normally be provided through a place on a school bus, public bus or train, or by reimbursement of a parent's mileage expenses at 45p per mile based on one return journey a day. A pupil's journey may include one or more changes of transport, where connection times and overall journey times, are reasonable. For complex journeys, the Authority will discuss provision with the family to determine the most suitable arrangements.

Children/young people who have lost their bus/rail pass will have to pay the Authority for a replacement (and may also incur a separate fee from the rail company). Parents/carers must send a letter to school confirming that the pass has been lost and payment will need to be included. Children will not normally be issued with more than one replacement pass each school year.

Children will normally be expected to walk up to a mile, accompanied as necessary, to meet a service vehicle to school.

2.12 Acceptable journey time

Where transport is provided the recommended maximum journey time is 45 minutes each way for children of primary school age and 75 minutes each way for children of secondary school age. In practice the Authority attempts to minimise these times as much as possible in the interests of the child. Acceptable journey times for children and young people with special needs may be adjusted according to individual need.

2.13 Review of Refused Transport Request

Where transport assistance to school/college is refused there will be an opportunity for the parent/carer to have their circumstances reconsidered.

A parent/carer has 20 working days from receipt of the Authority's transport decision to make a written request asking for a review of the decision by completing a review form (Appendix D) which can be obtained from Student Services (see Appendix C for details). The written request should detail why the decision should be reviewed and give any details of exceptional family circumstances, attaching any necessary supporting evidence. In the matters of route distance, correction of administrative error and withdrawal of a temporary seat, the final decision rests with the Authority.

Within 20 working days of receipt of the review form, a senior officer panel will review the original decision and inform the parent/carer of the decision in writing. The panel will comprise of officers not party to the original decision.

Please note this procedure is under review awaiting the results of the DfE's home to school travel and transport consultation.

2.14 Complaints

If a parent/ carer has a complaint about the individual arrangements for their child, please contact the school transport section (see Appendix C).

3. Transport for children and young people with additional needs or special circumstances

3.1 Home to school transport for pupils of statutory school age with learning difficulties and/or disabilities

Pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities (LDD) of statutory school age who qualify under the criteria in sections 2.2 and 2.3 will be provided with free home to school transport.

The majority of Derbyshire pupils who have a Statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) do not receive or require specialised travel assistance from the Authority. Where a pupil lives within the defined travelling distance, and is able to walk to school, accompanied as necessary, the Authority expects parents of pupils with a statement of SEN to make arrangements for their child in the same way as parents of pupils without a statement.

Where entitled and deemed necessary, free transport will be provided to and from the nearest suitable school where the child cannot be reasonably expected to walk with regard given to his or her individual learning difficulty and/or disability. The child's age will be taken into account, and where transport is provided, the Authority will ensure that children can travel in safety and reasonable comfort and that journey times are kept to a minimum.

If the child is attending a school of parental preference i.e. where the Local Authority considers there is a suitable school nearer the pupil's home, free transport will not be provided. If the parents preferred school is further away from the child's home than another school that can meet the child's needs the local Authority may agree to the named the preferred school on condition that the parents are responsible for all costs relating to travel from home to school.

The provision of transport will be reviewed annually.

A pupil with a statement of SEN who is a registered pupil or has been offered a place at a mainstream school will not be provided with home to school transport unless:

- The nearest appropriate school exceeds the distance criteria (see section 2.2); or
- The low income criteria are met (see section 2.3); or
- The pupil has a disability which prevents them from walking to school, accompanied as necessary by a parent or carer.

When a pupil with LDD is entitled to free home to school transport and cannot access the transport generally available to take other children from their local area to school then alternative transport arrangements will be made, the

nature of such arrangements being at the discretion of the Authority, having regards to the needs of the pupil.

If the Authority agrees to provide transport assistance it will be provided in a safe and cost effective manner, taking account of the child's specific needs and with regard to the best use of the Council's resources from the range of options below:

- Re-imbursement of mileage costs- parents may consent to support their child in travelling to school, either through accompanying their child in place of a passenger assistant or by driving their own car. In these cases the Authority may remunerate the costs of travel by paying a mileage allowance, currently 45p a mile based on one return journey a day.
- Escorted public transport- It may be possible for a pupil to travel on public transport if they have some assistance. Where parents are unable to accompany their child, or do not consent to do so, the Authority may provide a passenger assistant.
- Contract Vehicles- in exceptional circumstances the Council may provide a contracted vehicle to transport a child to and from school. Vehicles are provided by suitably qualified, registered providers working to contractual standards set by the Council. Whenever possible, pupils will travel together in mini-buses that are adapted to meet the needs of pupils travelling on them. Each route will be planned on the basis of school start and finish times and the shortest possible route for all children travelling on a particular vehicle. Pupils will be picked up and dropped off at a convenient location, within a reasonable distance from their home, in many cases from recognised bus stops.
- Home pick up- this will only be made where deemed essential due to the child's significant needs
- Taxis and private hire vehicles- under very exceptional circumstances the Council may transport pupils in separate taxis or private hire vehicles based on the assessed needs of the child.

Passenger assistants may be provided at the discretion of the Authority where:

- The child is under 8 years of age;
- The child has a disability which makes it necessary to provide an escort for health and safety reasons or;
- The child has an emotional or behavioural difficulty which would give rise to concerns about the well-being of the pupil, or the well-being of other pupils or staff if there were no passenger assistant present.

3.2 Pre-School age children

The Authority may make arrangements for pre-school age children in exceptional circumstance. This will usually be in the form of parental reimbursement of 45p per mile based on one return journey a day.

3.3 Independent Travel Training

The Independent Travel Training scheme is aimed at young people who may face difficulty with using public transport to help them live more independently.

Travel Trainers work on a one-to-one basis with a learner to gain independence on a specific route to and from school or college. A Travel Trainer usually works with a learner for about 10 return sessions, gradually developing their independence through accompanied, close and distance shadowed journeys.

For learners to be eligible they need to:

- Be in Year 8 or above at school or be aged above 16 attending post-16 education
- Being provided with transport to their place of education, paid for by the County Council

Please phone 07805745341 or email <u>lift-derbyshire@natstar.ac.uk</u> for more details.

3.4 Transport to residential placements

Where the pupil attends a residential school, transport will be arranged by the Authority, or the parents will be reimbursed the cost of making their own arrangements as follows:

- Weekly basis- journeys at the beginning and end of each school week;
- Termly basis- journeys at the beginning and end of each term, up to a maximum of 12 journeys;
- 38 or 52 week placements- a maximum of 12 journeys per school year.

Parents/ carers are expected to make independent transport arrangements when returning pupils to school following illness, for medical appointments and for exclusions where these journeys are additional to normal transport arrangements.

3.5 Transport to short breaks

Transport may be provided by the Authority between school and a short break setting where there is an existing contract that can be utilised at no extra cost to the Authority. If there are additional costs the parents or carers will be expected to meet these costs, or provide transport by their own arrangement for short breaks overnight or longer.

3.6 Transport to Delta holidays

The Authority will support families whose children qualify for a break under the Delta holiday scheme and will provide transport for children from a central point to the venue. It is the parent's responsibility to make and pay for any

arrangements required to get the child to the pick-up point offered. Families benefiting from Delta Holidays will be signposted to sources of support for income maximisation assessments.

3.7 Children moving school for reasons other than changing home address

If a child moves to another school or establishment other than due to a house move, transport assistance will not normally be offered unless the general eligibility criteria (see sections 2.2. and 2.3) are met.

Each request will be considered on its particular circumstance

3.8 Children moving to different place of learning due to behaviour issues

If a child has been placed in an alternative establishment for provision of their education, such as a support centre or a different school, following exclusion, eligibility criteria (as defined in sections 2.2 and 2.3) will apply from the pupil's home to the nearest suitable establishment where instruction or training is being given.

3.9 Long term medical needs

Children and young people with medical needs attending their closest suitable school who are unable to walk to school due to their medical need, and where this need is supported by a medical plan may be considered for transport assistance.

All efforts will be taken to support independence of the child or young person within the context of their medical needs including parents' availability. Transport assistance will only be provided where this is clearly stated as a requirement in the medical plan and the type of travel assistance offered will be dependent on the individual needs of the child. Applications for assistance come from the management of the schools in the form of a medical plan.

3.10 Making an application for free transport

Applications for transport should be made using the application Form TA1, available from Student Services:

Telephone 01629 533260

or email: student.services@derbyshire.gov.uk

3.11 Home to school transport for children in the care of the Authority

The educational attainment of children and young people in the care of Derbyshire County Council (children in care) is a high priority, and it is the aim of the Authority to ensure children and young people receive continuity of education where possible and in their best interest. Care will be taken to ensure that travel is not excessive for an extended period (see section 2.12 acceptable journey time).

The majority of children in care will attend a local school, particularly when a placement is identified as long term or expected to endure for more than 6 months.

For looked after children and young people who do not have a statement of special educational needs and who have an assessed need to attend school outside of the normal area where they live, whether in residential or foster care, decisions regarding transport will be taken in the best interests of the child by the Social Worker.

Provision of transport may be considered:

- When the child's care plan is for the child to return home in a specified timescale and there is a need to maintain the child in a school:
- When a child/ young person is at a critical time in their education timetable e.g. SATs, GCSEs, transition;
- Where continuity of education is specified by the Courts in Care Proceedings or by the Children in Care Review Process.

The decision should be made either at the initial care planning meeting or the statutory review.

Where possible and appropriate, the young person is expected to travel independently by walking or cycling, on public or other school transport. For younger children or where other forms of transport are not available, it is expected that where possible, appropriate and in the interests of value for money the foster carer or other carer will transport the child to school and will be reimbursed at the rate of 45p per mile based on one return journey a day.

Where transport by car is difficult due to responsibility for a younger child, the Council may offer support with childcare costs to support the transport of a child in care if this is appropriate and represents value for money.

Only in exceptional circumstances will individually commissioned transport be provided, and all requests must be formally approved by the Safeguarding District Manager.

Transport arrangements will be kept under review by the Independent Reviewing Officer.

3.12 Transport to contact and other settings for children in the care of the Authority

All efforts must be taken to secure best value when arranging transport for children in the care of the Authority, even when a rapid response is required or in the case of unforeseen circumstances.

Where possible, contact visits should be arranged as close as possible to where the child is living and/ or attending school, and transport should be provided to and from contact visits by the Carer with travel reimbursed at a mileage rate of 45p per mile.

In cases where transport provided by the Carer is not possible, the Social Worker should seek an alternative that offers best value.

3.13 Transport to contact visits for parents

The Authority will not provide transport for parents to attend contact visits with their children who are in the care of the Authority. The Authority will reimburse public transport costs for attending contact visits on presentation of a valid ticket or receipt, or will pay a mileage re-imbursement for personal car use at the public transport rate (currently 16.4p a mile).

3.14 Transport for parents attending Parenting Courses provided by the Authority

When the need presents the Authority will identify parenting courses and classes to offer parenting support. Travelling to and from the course/class is a parental responsibility unless safeguarding services identify exceptional circumstances in which case the Authority will reimburse travel expenses for personal car (at public transport rate of 16.4p a mile) or public transport use.

3.15 Review of Transport Decisions

A parent/carer has the right to a review of the Authority's decision to refuse assistance with transport who do not meet the criteria in 2.2 and 2.3. See section 2.13.

3.16 Complaints

If a parent/ carer has a complaint about the individual arrangements for their child, please contact the school transport section (see Appendix C).

4. Post 16 Transport

Please note this section gives a brief overview of our Post 16 transport provision.

We publish a separate annual Post 16 Transport Policy Statement which defines our transport policy for learners over age 16. This can be viewed at http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/council/policies_plans/educ_plans_and_policies/post16-transport-plan/default.asp

Statutory eligibility to free home to school transport ends at age 16. Eligibility for Post-16 transport provision for learners of sixth form age is not prescribed by statute and the local authority must decide what arrangements it considers necessary, as a local response to transport needs, which complies with the legislation and public law.

Local authorities have a duty to prepare and publish an annual Transport Policy Statement specifying the arrangements for the provision of transport, or otherwise, that the Authority considers it necessary to make to facilitate the attendance of learners of sixth form age receiving education or training at schools and other prescribed establishments, and for learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities aged from 19 to 24 who are subject of a Learning Difficulty Assessment or Education Health Care (EHC) plan.

The Raising of the Participation Age (RPA) legislation, requiring young people to participate in education or training until the end of the academic year they turn 17 from 2013 (and up to their 18th birthday from 2015), has not created any new entitlement to transport for post-16 learners.

4.1 Transport to school and college for students post 16

Post 16 students in full time education qualify for a b_line 2 card which provides reduced fares on public transport in Derbyshire up to their 19th birthday, under the Council's b_line concessionary fares scheme. The concession includes bus and rail travel across Derbyshire, Derby city and journeys to and from some destinations just outside the county.

Further information about b_line, including application forms and details of how to replace a lost or defaced b_line card, may be obtained from the school office or found on the Derbyshire Youthinc website at www.derbyshireyouthinc.com

The Council does not make any additional arrangements to convey Post 16 students unable to access public transport unless it is a specific requirement in a Statement of Special Education Needs, in a Learning Difficulty Assessment; or in an Education, Health and Care plan.

Some colleges may provide transport or transport assistance, and more information about this can be obtained from the institutions - see

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/council/policies_plans/educ_plans_and_policies/post16-transport-plan/default.asp

Post 16 learners may be able to use spare seats available on transport services contracted by the Authority (see section 2.7).

4.2 Post 16 students with learning difficulties and/or disabilities

Derbyshire County Council provides a b_line scheme providing discounted travel for young people accessing learning. It is expected that most young people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities will use this to get to their places of learning. Where this is not possible the Authority will, in the first instance, explore if a parent is able to provide transport and receive a mileage reimbursement. If this is not possible the Authority will consider alternative transport arrangements.

A contribution will be charged for transport assistance for sixth form aged pupils. The charge in 2014/15 is £349 per year; the low income charge is £233 per year. For full details see post 16 policy http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/council/policies_plans/educ_plans_and_policies/post16-transport-plan/default.asp

Appendix A

Walking Route Assessment Criteria

- (a) In assessing the safety of a particular route, consideration will be given only to danger relevant to traffic/highway conditions;
- (b) It is essential that each case be considered objectively on its merits;
- (c) It is assumed that the child is accompanied if necessary by a caring parent or other responsible person and will be suitably clad;
- (d) Where a footway or roadside strip, public footpath or bridleway exists of reasonable width and condition, this will normally be assumed to provide a safe route for that part of the journey;
- (e) Where, on a lightly trafficked or narrow road, a verge exists which is not easy to walk on, but which can be stepped onto by the child and accompanying person when vehicles are passing, it can normally be assumed to provide a safe route for that part of the journey;
- (f) Many routes may lie along roads having neither footway nor verge. On such roads consideration should be given to the width of the carriageway, traffic speed and composition (such as frequent heavy goods vehicles) and to visibility.
- (g) The absence of street lighting is not in itself a measure of the availability of a safe route although where children are unable to step off the road surface it could become a significant factor;
- (h) Consideration should be given to the relevant accident record of the route with particular regard to the effect on pedestrian movement; and
- (i) Where road crossings are necessary, the availability of facilities to assist such crossings should be taken into consideration as should the extent of visibility.

Please note: Any routes found unsuitable for a young person to walk, accompanied as necessary will be referred to the County Highways Authority to look at cost effective adjustments.

Assessment:

Officers of the Authority will use the above factors to assess whether a route is reasonably safe to walk. There will normally need to be a combination of factors present for the route to be unavailable for an accompanied child. A route will not normally be considered unsafe because a short length of it is difficult. It is reasonable to expect special care in particular places

Appendix B

Behaviour Code of Conduct for provided transport

Derbyshire County Council is committed to providing safe and reliable transport to and from educational establishments and places of learning in the County.

A number of bus services now have CCTV fitted and partnerships have been established with some schools and bus operators to help deal with problems. The County Council also works in partnership with Derbyshire Community Safety Forum and will, where necessary, utilise the range of legislative enforcement powers available to help stop anti-social behaviour. Parents are responsible for ensuring their own child understands the consequences of misbehaving on provided transport.

Step 1

Where a child misbehaves, drivers will normally speak to the child about their behaviour. If problems remain the details will be reported to the school or place of learning and to the County Council. Once a pupil has been reported, a verbal warning will normally be given by the school or place of learning. Schools and places of learning should include within their School Behaviour Policy conduct which takes place on the journey to/ from their establishment as well as behaviour within the school or place of learning, and may also impose additional sanctions under the terms of the Behaviour Policy where this is appropriate.

In cases of more serious misconduct, Step 2 will immediately apply.

Step 2

Where a pupil is a persistent offender, or commits a serious offence, a written warning will be issued as follows. Either:

A letter will be sent home informing parents/ guardians of their child's behaviour along with a warning that further misbehaviour will result in the child being banned from the transport provided for a temporary period, or

A letter will be sent home informing parents/ guardians that an immediate ban from the transport provided has been imposed for a specific period. Pupils may also be asked to sign an acceptable behaviour contract before they are allowed to return to the transport provided.

In very serious cases the right to travel on transport arranged by the Authority may be withdrawn completely.

Warning letters may be issued by the School or place of learning, the County Council or the Anti-Social Behaviour Officer.

Parents/ Carers will have a right of appeal to a panel of Council Members, against a withdrawal of transport provision for their child.

A serious offence includes any type of behaviour which endangers the safety of other passengers, drivers and members of the public. It also includes criminal damage or vandalism to the transport vehicle provided.

Serious cases may also be reported to the police, to be dealt with by way of criminal proceedings.

Parents/ carers should be aware that where bans are imposed the travelling arrangements and costs will be the parent's responsibility and the County Council will not offer alternative transport or assistance.

Parents and carers of pupils who cause damage to transport vehicles will be liable for any costs incurred by the company. The County Council will support the transport company and will encourage police involvement if necessary.

Appendix C

For specialist staff dealing in home to school related matters

Student Services

Tel: 01629 533260 or email student.services@derbyshire.gov.uk

Call Derbyshire

08456 058058

Family Information Service

Tel: 01629 535707

School Transport team (school bus provision)

Tel: 01629 536739

Special Needs Transport team

Tel: 01629 536727

Online applications for transport assistance can be made at www.derbyshire.gov.uk/get2school



TRANSPORT REVIEW FORM

Please use BLOCK LETTERS on this page and complete in black ink or type.

Name of Child:	Address:	
Child's Date of Birth:		
	Postcode:	
Full Name of Parent or Carer:	Telephone Number (day time): Home: Work:	
Does your child have a Statement of Special Educational Need? YES/NO (Delete as appropriate)		
School to which transport is requested	Any previous School/s attended:	
Date started or due to start at above School:		
Details of other adults in the family: Name: Relationship to Child		
Details of other children in the family (i.e. brothers or sisters): Name Date of Birth School / college attended		
Please explain how your child currently travels to school		
I understand the Authority may seek advice and information relating to my request from other departments or agencies, including schools, prior to any review.		
Signature:	Date:	

Full details of request for transport assistance and grounds for review. Please include details of any other agency involvement eg social care, housing and relevant documentation from them.		
Please note financial circumstances or normal parental working arrangements will not usually, by themselves, be regarded as exceptional family circumstances. Where the parent / carer is unable to accompany the child, then the Authority will consider the availability of immediate family members, friends and neighbours, and the provision of any other assistance or benefit to the family.		
Other agency details:		
Name: Contact telephone number:		
Privacy Notice: The information you release to us will be used for transport related purposes and may be shared, as the law allows, with partner organisations. Further details on the Authority's Data Privacy policies and those of partner organisations can be found on the Derbyshire County Council Website www.derbyshire.gov.uk/privacynotices , or a hard copy		

can be provided on request.'

Please return this form to: Derbyshire County Council, Student Services, Godkin House, 2
Park Road, Ripley, Derbyshire, DE5 3EF or email to student.services@derbyshire.gov.uk